1983

## Shannon L. Tanner v. Wayne R. Tanner : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a divorce action.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Plaintiff-Appellant commenced this action in the lower court to obtain a Decree of Divorce. Trial was held and a judgment rendered on March 2, 1982. The court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce. Both parties were granted a divorce and Plaintiff was granted custody of the couples one child; however, the court ruled that the Respondent's 1/8 interest in a family partnership was irrelevant to the marital estate. Consequently, pursuant to Rule 59 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, a motion was made to amend the decree but it was denied on March 25, 1983. Appellant appeals all aspects of lower court's Order concerning the division of property. The Divorce itself is not appealed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant seeks reversal of the District Court in its failure to take into consideration in dividing the

marital estate respondent's 1/8 interest in ranch land) by respondent himself at \$2,050,361 which he received in 1963 during the course of the 29 year marriage. The finding itself is not appealed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties to this action were married on June 2, 1953. (R-123) In 1963 Respondent and several relatives inherited a ranch from Respondent's father. (R 38, 39, 12). According to the estate plan Respondent became the owner of a 1/8 undivided interest in the ranch and its improvements.

On February 8, 1980 Respondent and his family represented to a financial institution, with whom they were applying for a loan, in a financial statement signed by Respondent, that the value of the ranch with improvements was \$1,023,475.00. (Plaintiff's Exhibit J, R 181,182)

On December 19, 1980 Respondent and others certified the value of the ranch to be \$1,697,873, (Plaintiff's Exhibit K, R-183) and on the same date to another financial institution \$1,713,773.00. (Plaintiff's Exhibit L, R184) Finally on December 17, 1981 respondent and his relatives certified that the value was \$2,050,361.00 with total current liabilities of \$433,035 and a net worth of \$1,617,326.00. (Plaintiff's Exhibit M, Appendix A, R 184, 195) Thus, Respondent's interest (1/8) in the net worth thereof in December of 1981 would have been \$202,165.00.

Despite the representations by Respondent and his  
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT 2

monthly financial institutions from February 1980 until December 1981 showing that the value of the land and improvements doubled in two years, Respondent testified at trial on November 19, 1982 that the value of the ranch and improvements was between \$400,000 and \$700,000 (R181) with approximately \$480,000 of debts outstanding against the property.

Respondent's brother testified the value of the land without improvements was \$800,000 (R202,219) with \$506,000 owed against it. (R 202-205) However, he admitted to representing the value on December 17, 1981 to be \$2,050,362 (R220, plaintiff's Exhibit M, Appendix A)

The Appellant and Respondent are both social workers, both of which supported the other while they went to school and earned their degrees. (R 136, 195) In 1974 Appellant began paying into a retirement fund. (R150) She encouraged Respondent to set up a retirement fund or pension annuity but he refused stating that the ranch was to be his retirement. (R 154, 155) On the date of trial the present value of Appellant's Retirement annuity was \$34,200.00. (R 132) Respondent contributed nothing to this annuity (R 156,157) Even though both parties worked the responsibility of caring for the parties infant child and keeping the house fell upon the Appellant. (R 134)

Appellant's current income is approximately \$29,000/year (R125) and Respondent's income between \$18,000 and \$19,000/year. (R176) Both parties have educational

backgrounds equally impressive. (R 134, 179)

After 29 years of marriage the Appellant filed a divorce action against Respondent based upon mental cruelty. Respondent counterclaimed. (R 163) Divorce was granted to both parties on March 2, 1982. (R 91-92)

The District Court concluded that the marital property should be divided equally. (R83) The court decided that Appellant's \$34,200.00 retirement annuity should be included in the marital estate and divided it equally. The court, however, refused to consider, in dividing the assets, Respondent's interest in the Ranch which the evidence proved, was worth over Two Hundred Thousand Dollars to him. (Plaintiff's Exhibit M, Appendix A, R 184, 185)

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ITS FAILURE TO TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION, IN DIVIDING THE MARITAL ESTATE, RESPONDENT'S 1/8 INTEREST IN A RANCH VALUED AT \$2,050,361 WHICH HE INHERITED IN 1963 DURING THE COURSE OF THE 29 YEAR MARRIAGE.

It is the law of the State of Utah that a court, in dividing the marital estate, consider "all assets of every nature possessed by the parties, whenever obtained and from whatever source derived," Woodward v. Woodward, 656 P.2d 431, 432 (Utah 1982); Englert v. Englert, 576 P.2d 1274 (Utah



1978) at 1270. This rule applies even though the property may have been a gift from close relatives.<sup>1</sup>

This court in Englert, in sustaining an award of a portion of a retirement fund of one of the spouses, took a close look at the language of the Utah Statute which governs the property rights of the parties in divorce matters. U.C.A. 30-3-5 states as follows:

When a decree of divorce is made, the court may make such orders in relation to the children, property and parties and the maintenance of the parties and children, as may be equitable.

In Englert the court made the observation, "It is to be particularly noted that the language is in general terms and contains no hint of limitation." Englert at p. 1276.

In Weaver v. Weaver, 2, Utah 2nd 166, 442 P.2d 928 (1968) the husband had received a gift of stock of a sizeable sum from his father and sister. The trial court treated said property as part of the marital estate in dividing the assets. This Court affirmed holding that such property should not be excluded from the marital estate.

In the case Bushell v. Bushell, 649 P.2d 85, (Utah 1982) the husband had received 14 acres of real estate as a gift from his father just three years before his wife filed for a divorce. This court affirmed the trial court's ruling that it was proper to treat said parcel of real estate as

<sup>1</sup> Bushell v. Bushell, 644 P.2d 85 (Utah 1982)  
Hamilton v. Hamilton, 562 P.2d 235 (Utah 1977);  
Weaver v. Weaver, 21 Utah 2d 166, 442 P.2d 928 (1968)

part of the marital estate. In that case the court awarded one of the 14 acres to the wife and the other 13 to the husband, but gave the wife use of the 13 for seven and one-half years so she could use the income therefrom to raise her children.

The broad language of U.C.A. 39-3-5 and the rules of law applied in the cases above cited make it clear that the District Court should have considered all of the parties assets from whatever source derived in dividing the marital estate.

In this case it is absolutely clear from the record that the trial court excluded Respondent's 1/8 interest in the ranch, in dividing the marital assets, the court states in its minute entry after trial:

"The separate estate of the defendat (Respondent) which came to him by inheritance is . . . irrelevant to a decision in this case . . ." (R82)

According to the law of the State said property was very relevant in deciding how the parties assets should have been divided. Had the District Court concluded that the land had no value and had divided the property as it did, Appellant would have no argument on appeal. However, when the court arbitrarily decided not to take Respondent's interest into account, an interest which could be worth \$200,000 to the Respondent, it was an abuse of the court's discretion not to consider it.

Even if this court does not award the Appellant an interest in the Respondent's 1/8 interest in the ranch, it should at least consider the value of the Respondent's 1/8 interest in the ranch to offset the award to the Respondent of one-half of the Appellant's retirement annuity. Therefore, the court should exercise its equity power to reverse the trial court to the extent that it awarded Respondent 1/2 of Appellant's \$34,000.00 retirement annuity.

#### POINT II.

THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING RESPONDENT 1/2 OF APPELLANT'S RETIREMENT ANNUITY, TO BE PAYABLE UPON APPELLANT'S RETIREMENT PLUS INTEREST EARNED THEREUPON, WITHOUT REDUCING SAID SUM BY THE AMOUNT OF TAXES APPELLANT MAY BE REQUIRED TO PAY UPON WITHDRAWING SAID SUM UPON RETIREMENT TO PAY RESPONDENT PURSUANT TO COURT ORDER.

It is impossible to predict what the tax laws will state when Appellant retires ten years from now and it is impossible to predict how much interest the retirement annuity will earn during that period. However, it is foreseeable that upon Appellant's retirement the amount owed to Respondent may be very large because of accrued interest. It is also foreseeable that a large amount of tax thereupon could be assessed against Appellant for withdrawing the same to pay Respondent. In the event this court chooses not to set aside the District Court's order awarding 1/2 of Appellant's retirement annuity to the Respondent, in equity and good conscience Appellant should not have to pay taxes on the benefit Respondent derives therefrom.

Therefore, the District Court's ruling,

"The court further finds that the value of said annuity should not be reduced by the amount of taxes which Plaintiff will have to pay when she withdraws monies from said annuity in order to pay the defendant that portion that he was awarded." (R 1

should be set aside. The tax burden should rest with the respondent who will have derived the benefit of cashing in the \$17,000.00 of the annuity plus interest.

In Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983) the tax consequences of the distribution of the marital estate was held to be an important aspect for the valuation and the distribution of that estate.