1983

Shannon L. Tanner v. Wayne R. Tanner : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This appeal is made from the final Order of the Honorable Calvin Gould, Judge of the District Court, in and for the Second Judicial District, Weber County, State of Utah, granting the respective parties a divorce and division of property.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Court granted a divorce to each of the parties and divided the property equitably between the parties.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Respondent seeks that the Judgment of the Lower Court be upheld, and that the Judgment and Decree of Divorce, dividing equally the property of the parties do not be set aside.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties were married for approximately twenty-nine (29) years prior to the Courts granting a divorce. Both parties subsequent to marriage spent some time in acquiring their education and professional skills in establishing themselves as professionals in the area of Social Work. At the time of the divorce, the Appellant testified that she then had a retirement plan, which was worth \$34,200.00. (R. 132).

*

At the same time, there was also testimony that both parties had some type of interest in inheritance, the husband being in a partnership, he being a 1/8 partner in a Ranch owned in the Northwestern corner of the State as part of an inheritance received prior to marriage.

The evidence showed that the ranch had declined substantially in value, had little or no value, at the time of the divorce proceeding, and that no contribution had been made by the parties during the course of the marriage. (R. 132, 141, 142, 143, 144, 153, 181).

At the time of trial, the Court would not allow questioning of the plaintiff with regard to her possible inheritance of the Farm of her parents, which would go to the

and a sister. (R. 146). In addition, the testimony established that the parties made little or no contribution to the husband's inheritance interest and received some benefits in the way of meat and other items but at the same time, they were consistently taking large losses on their tax returns because of that operation. (R. 142, 143). In addition, the evidence clearly established that there was a substantial indebtedness owed by the partnership in the area of \$500,000-\$600,000. (R. 174). Both Mr. Tanner and his brother testified that the property had declined substantially in value and was almost totally unmarketable with likely not clearing the existing debt, most of which was overdue at that date. (R. 174).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS JUSTIFIED IN REFUSING TO TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION DEFENDANT'S INHERITANCE IN THE DIVISION OF THE MARITAL ESTATE, IN ESSENCE, THE COURT AT THE SAME TIME, DID NOT TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION THE LIKE OR EQUAL INTEREST EXISTING IN THE PLAINTIFF.

Section 30-3-5, governs the Court in the division of property and the fashioning of the Decree of Divorce and specifically provides:

"When a Decree of Divorce is made, the Court may make such Orders in relation to the children, property and parties, and the

maintenance of the parties and children,
as may be equitable."

In this case, the Court apparently came to the conclusion that the prospective inheritances of the parties were too speculative or remote to place any specific value upon them in the division of property. In fact, the Court at one point, specifically denied further questioning of the Plaintiff with regard to her possible inheritance and the Court, in fact, specifically recites inheritances are separate estates under Utah law. (R. 146).

With regard to the question of inheritances being separate estates, Respondent has not been able to find any specific case law in the State of Utah, but is aware of several decisions in neighboring states. The Supreme Court of the State of Colorado in the case of Gaskie v. Gaskie, 534 P. 2nd 629, recognizes that a ranch which was inherited by the wife 11 years prior to marriage had not lost its identity, as the a separate property of the wife. Particularly where the retention of the ranch was not aided in any manner by the husband's efforts in any capacity. Further, the Court held that the ranch property and its improvements would not be included in the marital estate at its division by the trial Court. The Court in that case recognized the fact that inherited property is not per se excluded from consideration in division of marital property.

but that the party claiming an interest must show that by his efforts, together with the other spouse, he either built up or kept the family worth intact or in some manner contributed to the value of the property. The Court also specifically found that the spouse claiming an interest had provided little or no management or supervision over the property which is the subject of the inheritance. In addition, as in the present case, the parties themselves believed the ranch to be the separate property of the spouse who inherited it.

In the present case, Mrs. Tanner has testified that the parties considered the husband's 1/8 interest in T & T Enterprises, which operated the ranch to be a separate property, and that they had received nothing from the ranch other than occasional meat or other small items. The Memorandum Decision rendered in this case states specifically:

"The separate estate of the defendant, which came to him by inheritance is therefore, irrelevant to a decision in this case, as is an expectancy or trust in which plaintiff may be named a beneficiary."

The Court then went on to decide that the respective retirements of the parties, would also off-set each other and did not award a portion to either one, but did divide the annuity which had been purchased by the wife on a

monthly basis, while the husband continued to contribute toward the necessities of life, for both.

Other Courts that have specifically considered the question of a parties' interest in inheritance have declined to award any property settlement from that inheritance, Whitney v. Whitney, 330 P.2nd 947. The fact, many Courts recognize inheritance as being identified with separate property concepts in States which have enacted community property statutes. In the case of Peterson v. Peterson, 484 P.2nd 736, the Court held that property which has been given to the husband alone in the form of an inheritance, would remain his alone, unless specifically necessary for alimony or support for the wife or minor children. In the case of Palmer v. Palmer, 465 P.2nd 156, (decided by the Supreme Court of Oklahoma), the Court once again denied any interest in a sum of money which would come to the wife as her inheritance and which the Court specifically found had not been enhanced through any efforts of the husband.

The cases cited by the Appellant, all seemed to deal with a gift, not in contemplation of death, by parents or other members of the family, which apparently were to be used by the parties during the marriage, or were not otherwise limited in any manner. It would not appear that these cases would be applicable to the present case.

The interest of the Respondent is dubious at best. A recent decision of this Court, which is made in light of the Englert v. Englert decision 576 P.2nd 1274, is the case of Bennett v. Bennett, 607 P.2nd 839, which found that no present value could be assigned to the portion of the party's retirement fund which had been contributed by the U.S. Government and that it was error for the Court to consider that contribution in making an award. The Court states:

"Because the testimony and findings in this case clearly establishes that that portion of the Plaintiff's retirement fund contributed by the U.S. Government has no present value-and may not have any value in the future-we hold that it was error for the District Court to consider this matter as one of the assets of the parties, thereby using it as one of the significant predicates of the Courts determination of the property division between the parties provided for in the Decree."

In the Englert case, previously mentioned, the Courts specifically mentions that the basis for property settlement, and support awards, is the pertinent circumstances of the parties, and the determination of the most equitable way to serve the best interests and welfare of the parties and their children.

In this case the wife is at present earning substantially more than the husband and has her own separate interest in addition to a large annuity which she has

contributed to monthly over the course of the marriage, in addition to a substantial inheritance which she would become entitled to upon the death of her parents. In the case of Fletcher v. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218, this Court once again recognizes the well established doctrine:

"In a divorce case, even though the proceedings are equitable, this Court may review the evidence, this Court, accords considerable deference to the Findings and Judgment of the Trial Court due to its advantageous position. In an appeal this Court will not disturb the action of the Trial Court unless the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary, or the Trial Court has abused its discretion, or misapplied principles of law."

The Court states further:

"There is no fixed formula upon which to determine a division of properties, it is prerogative of the Court to make whatever disposition of the property as it deems fair, equitable, necessary for the protection and welfare of the parties. In the division of marital property, the Trial Judge has wide discretion, and his Findings will not be disturbed unless the record indicates an abuse thereof."

With regard to the contentions of Appellant that the property was worth some 2 million dollars in December of 1981, this contention is once again answered by the Court. In the case of Fletcher v. Fletcher, which states"

"The marital estate is evaluated according to the existing property interest at the time the marriage was terminated by the Decree of the Court."

The sole testimony and evidence, with regard to the current value of the ranch in which the Respondent had a 1/8 inheritance interest was that there was little, if any value in the property and it was almost impossible to mark it at that point. In the case of Hamilton v. Hamilton, 562 P.2nd 235, this Court recognized that property held solely in the name of one party, which had been acquired as a gift from his father, would be treated as separate property of that party and the Court refused to Decree any type of interest in that property to the wife, even though the same had been conveyed by the husband during the pendency of the divorce proceedings, subsequent to trial, but prior to the time the final Decree was entered.

Thus it appears, that the division of property in the instant case, was done equitably and in accordance with current principals of law, the Court considering any possible inheritance interest of the parties to be irrelevant, either because there was no value in them or because they were the separate property of the relative parties.

POINT II.

THE COURT IN AWARDING 1/2 SHARE OF APPELLANT'S RETIREMENT ANNUITY WAS ATTEMPTING TO FIX DEFENDANT'S INTEREST AS OF THE DATE OF THE DIVORCE AND TO PRECLUDE ANY DIMINUTION OR CHANGE OF THAT INTEREST SUBSEQUENTLY BY THE PLAINTIFF.

As stated in Appellant's Brief, it is impossible to predict what the tax laws will state, when the Appellant

retires 10 years hence, or the relative value of the annuity, therefore, the Court in this case sought to fix the Respondent's interest in that annuity as being \$17,150.00 not subject to diminution, off-sets, or otherwise at subsequent date.

This attempt to equitably divide property which in essence was jointly acquired through the monthly contributions of the wife, while the husband paid the living expenses, is once again within the Courts discretion and should not be overturned as previously mentioned in Fletcher v. Fletcher. As far as the possible tax consequences, this case is unlike Savage v. Savage, cited by the Appellant, in that the Trial Court has not retained jurisdiction to specifically determine any tax questions as was done in the Savage case, and such action was incumbent upon the Appellant if they wish to preserve any such protection and to request the same from the Court.